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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

g Situated high gbove a point where the Roanoke River bends slightly,
Fort Brancu commands an extensive sweep of the river. The earthworks are
still virtually intact, and, as seen from a comparison with a contemporary
diagram, the configuration of the fort is essentially as constructed.
Approached from the landward side, the terrain is quite flat until it
reaches the high earthen fortifications which extend outward from the sharp
drop to the river to form an irregular semicircle which has three triangular
projections. As measured in the plan‘\the fort extends about 1,400 feet a-
long the west side of the river and is about 600 feet wide at its widest
point. A ditch, from which the earth was taken to build the walls, runs
along the outer perimeter of the fort walls. A triangular bastion, which
has three reinforced angles, extends from the center of the fort on the
landward side. On the west and north sides of the bastion, connected to it
by parapets (the west one about 250 feet long, the north one 100 feet long))
are blunted projections which contain only two reinforced angles. Beyond
these outer projections the fort walls turn outward to run roughly parallel
with the river until they close with the bluff, the extension to the north
being considerably longer than the southern one. The wall on the river
side contains no external projections and runs parallel to the irregular
bank. The fort is entirely contained within the earth walls, which are
roughly as tall as a man at most points™\ There are several earthen ramps
to the platform-like tops of the walls scattered about the interior of the
fort as well as at the acute interior angles.

Occupying a long narrow strip within the main body of the fort and
extending into the central bastion projection is the space once occupied by
the fort's commissary, now only a shallow ditch. To the north of the
commissary area is a square, somewhat raised plot which is a cemetery
("an old neighborhood burying ground . . . enclosed within the walls").

The only marker remaining is a stone which is broken off near the ground.
The only other prominent feature remaining within the fort is a boot-
shaped projection with high walls extending into the fort from the wall on
the river side. This enclosure once housed the fort's magazine. Though
somewhat overgrown with trees, the outline of the fortified complex is
still clear.
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By the fall of 1862, Federal forces were effectl ly bloekadlng the
coastal waters of North Carollna. The last port open in “the state and the
main line of communications with foreign nations was Wilmington. From
Wilmington goods were shipped by rail over the Wilmington-Weldon railroad
to Petersburg, and from there they went directly to the Army of Northern
Virginia. One weak link in this rail line was the bridge crossing the
Roanoke River at Weldon. It was feared that Federal gunboats would go
upstream to Weldon and destroy this bridge. Therefore, a fort was needed
to defend this link in the vital supply line and to protect construction
on the ironclad C.S.S. Albemarle at Edwards Ferry, on the Roanoke River,
up the river from Hamilton. The Confederate high command decided to build
a sizable earthwork fort along the Roanoke River to house enough armaments
to provide defense against Federal gunboats coming up the Roanoke River.me

In October, 1862, Lieutenant J. Innis Randolph was sent to find a
suitable fort site under the orders of Major General S. D. French. He
recommended Rainbow Bend, on the Martin County side of the Roanoke River,
as the best choice for placement of a fort, pointing out that Captain
R. K. Meade, C. S. A. engineer, had previously constructed a small battery
there. Randolph concluded, however, that the battery would need some
alterations which would require only "slight labor and time" to put the
work in perfect repair. He also concluded that an obstruction in the riven
would be indispensible to complete its defense.
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The actual construction of fortifications was begun almost immediately
under the direct supervision of W. G. Bender, first lieutenant, engineer,
C. S. A. The superintendent of the labor force was a Private Carroway, a
native of Martin County. The work force was composed of slaves obtained
from the neighboring farms and plantations, some lent, others hired.

Federal forces raided the area after construction was begun, but
before the fort was garrisoned. Work was temporarily suspended until the
Federal troops left the areaj however, damage done by them was quickly
repaired, and enlargiment of the original battery was continued. The final
work was completed in the early summer of 1863, and in August the fort was
garrisoned by elements of Companies B, C, and H of the Tenth Regimental,
North Carolina Troops (First Artlllery) The fort was named for General
Lawrence O'Bryan Branch, a North Carolinian who was killed during the
Battle of Sharpsburg (1862) in Maryland.
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With the comple tion of the ram Albemarle, a concerted effort was mounted
by the Confederacy to recapture Plymouth. The artillery companies at Fort
Branch assisted in this effort, and the fort was temporarily abandoned while
the Southern forces held the Roanoke River in its entirety. However, with
the sinking of the Albemarle and the recapture of Plymouth, Fort Branch was
again garrisoned to protect the upper reaches of the Roanoke River. The fort
was abandoned for the last time on April 10, 1865.

Al though Fort Branch did not figure in any important battles, it is
significant as one of North Carolina's best-preserved earthwork fortifications
Located on a bluff providing a panoramic view of the Roanoke Riwer, Fort
Branch with its well-defined ramps, ditch, and protecting walls is a remark-
able Civil War landmark.
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Research and architectural description by Charles G. Suttlemyre, Jr., Survey
Specialist.
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